
Annual Report and  
Accounts 2016



Independent Age Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | 1

Contents

Chairman’s statement 2 

Chief Executive’s statement 4 
 
Trustees’ report 6 
 
Independent auditors’ report 30 
 
Administrative information 32

 

Financial statements 
 
Consolidated statement of 
financial activities 36 
 
Group and charity balance 
sheets 37 
 
Consolidated statement of 
cash flows  38 
 
Notes to the financial 
statements 39 
 

Charter Members 58

References 60



2 | Independent Age Annual Report and Accounts 2016

Welcome to our Annual Report for 2016. 
Although I am sad that this year marks 
the end of my eight years as Chair, I 
am absolutely delighted that we have 
completely modernised the charity 
over this period. And I am glad we have 
managed to do so while continuing to 
honour our commitments to those we 
were supporting financially at the start. 

It is incredible to think that the charity has 
transformed from being rather specialised 
and small into one that, in 2016, helped 
over 1 million people. One of the most 
salient factors for me in this was joining 
forces with Counsel and Care in 2011. 
This enabled us to develop and grow our 
expertise in information and advice and, 
on the back of this, expand our policy and 
campaigning work, which continues to be 
very successful. 

Much of our terrific growth over the past 
year has been thanks to investment in 
our online audience, resulting in a surge 
of interest in our public information. 
This reveals a genuine hunger for good, 
independent information and advice for 
older people and their families, and we are 
so pleased to be seeing a positive impact 
through this work.

I am also pleased to see that we are 
now expanding our friendship services, 
developing and piloting new ways to help 
older people connect with others. These 
services really do make all the difference. 
One particularly isolated 88-year-old 
recently told us that her two, relatively 
new, Independent Age volunteers already 
feel like an “extended family”.

This is incredibly heartening and I would 
like to finish by sincerely thanking our 
dedicated Trustees, staff, volunteers and 
supporters for everything you are doing. 
Special thanks go to Calouste Gulbenkian 
Foundation, Tudor Trust, John Ellerman 
Foundation, Esmèe Fairbairn Foundation 
and the Big Lottery Fund, who have funded 
various areas of our work, including the 
Campaign to End Loneliness. 

As I leave, I am sure that the future 
direction will continue to focus outwards, 
on helping many more older people and 
families facing difficult circumstances. 
I look forward to seeing all the great 
achievements to come.

Dame Diana Brittan  
Chairman

Chairman’s 
statement 
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Making a 
difference
Making a measurable difference 
to the lives of older people 
through:

In 2016, over 1 million people 
accessed support from 
Independent Age.

Information and 
advice

Friendship 
services

Speaking up for 
older people

1m



Whatever happens as we get older, we 
all want to remain independent and 
live life on our own terms. That’s why, 
as well as offering regular friendly 
contact and a strong campaigning 
voice, Independent Age can provide 
you and your family with clear, free 
and impartial advice on the issues that 
matter: care and support, money and 
benefits, health and mobility. 

A charity founded over 150 years ago, 
we’re independent so you can be.

Our vision: 
A society where older people can live 
the lives they aspire to and contribute 
actively to their communities.

Our mission: 
To enable older people to stay 
independent and live well with dignity, 
choice and control.

About  
Independent 
Age
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Welcome to the Independent Age Annual 
Report 2016. I am very pleased to report 
significant growth this year – not only 
a vast increase in the distribution of our 
public information, but more enquiries to 
our Helpline, more calls and visits to lonely 
older people from our wonderful volunteers 
and new offices in Newcastle and Glasgow.

All this is enabling us to help thousands 
more older people access the support 
they so desperately need. One example is 
67-year-old Alan, who is paraplegic and 
dependent on a hoist for getting in and out 
of his bed and wheelchair. He called us for 
help because the hoist had broken and his 
council had refused to replace it.

After speaking to an adviser about his 
rights, Alan was able to show the council 
they were obliged to pay for the new hoist. 
This is wonderful news and really fits our 
mission to support independence in later 
life. But we are also all too aware of the 
struggle councils face in deciding how to 
spend their shrinking funds, particularly  
as more people need care and support in 
the future. 

This is why we launched our first 
grassroots campaign in January; we 
want to see a clear government plan to 
address the growing crisis in health and 
care services. The campaign has attracted 
support from thousands of members of 
the public and we have since gone on to 
build an alliance with many high-profile 
organisations. We will continue to urge the 
government and the other political parties 
to find a long-term solution that meets the 
needs of older people.

None of this would be possible without the 
dedication of our Trustees, staff, volunteers 
and supporters. I would like to sincerely 
thank our Chair, Dame Diana Brittan, who 
will be moving on in 2017. She has  
expertly steered us through a hugely 
important transition from which we have 
emerged as a more modern charity. She 
will be sorely missed.

We look forward to welcoming her 
replacement, our new Chair, Jo Cleary, 
who will bring fantastic experience of 
central and local government in health and 
social care to the role.

I hope you enjoy reading about our 
achievements over the following pages 
and look forward to updating you again 
next year.

Janet Morrison  
Chief Executive

Chief Executive’s 
statement 

Why we are 
needed

Over 1m  
older people say 
they always or 
often feel lonely 1

1.9m pensioners 
live below the poverty line

POVERTY

2

1.2m 
older people in 
England have at 
least one unmet 
care need 3

Our objects as set out in the Royal 
Charter are primarily to assist 
and provide relief to older people 
in need by reason of ill-health, 
disability, financial hardship or 
other disadvantage. The charity 
may also assist and provide relief  
to others in need by reason of  
ill-health, disability, social or 
financial hardship.
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2020 Strategy
In 2015, we launched an ambitious five-
year strategy to greatly increase the impact 
of Independent Age through the expansion 
of our services and campaigning activities. 
In the first two years we have already made 
a significant shift, helping thousands more 
people than ever before. 

In fact, in 2016, over 1 million people 
accessed support from Independent Age, 
while our overall service interactions – the 
number of times we helped people – grew 
fivefold. Much of this is due to a marked 
increase in our online presence: our online 
public information was viewed more than 
2.3 million times in 2016, compared to 
300,000 in 2015.

What is a ‘service interaction’?

A service interaction is an action 
taken to assist an older person, 
family member, carer or professional. 
This might be an action they take 
themselves using our services (such 
as reading an online article or printed 
guide, or calling our Helpline) or it 
might be an action we – or one of our 
volunteers – take, such as visiting an 
older person in their home.

Who we help

We focus our support on older people 
in greatest need – usually those born 
before or during the Second World 
War – and their families and carers.

We’re independent, so older 
people can be

Our information and advice is 
completely impartial – we don’t sell 
or recommend products – and our 
campaigning is fiercely independent 
and based on the needs of older 
people.

I think 
Independent Age is 
the most wonderful 
thing in the world. It 
doesn’t matter about 
your background 
or your religion or 
anything, they will 
help you if you need 
help and that’s what 
their logo says, to help 
you be more 
independent. 
Rita, 76

Trustees’
report
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Information and advice
What we do
We give free, independent and confidential 
advice over the telephone for older 
people, their families and carers. We 
advise on issues such as getting help at 
home, adaptations and equipment, care 
assessments, residential care, paying for 
care, hospital discharge, staying in touch 
with other people and welfare benefits. 

We also produce free guides and 
factsheets, full of information to help you 
boost your income, find the care you need, 
remain independent, choose the right 
place to live, stay connected with others, 
and more. All our information resources 
are offered in print and online. They are 
also available on request in alternative 
formats, including audio.

What we achieved in 2016 
In 2016, we started a programme to 
grow the number of older people, family 
members and professionals who use our 
services – including those without access 
to the internet. We also broadened the 
areas of expertise we advise on.

•  We launched a new website in 
May, providing better access to our 
information and advice, including 
information videos and interactive tools. 

•  Our online public information was 
viewed more than 2.3 million times, 
compared with 300,000 in 2015.  

•  Our series of information videos 
explaining how to access benefits and 
other support were viewed 44,000 times 
since their mid-year launch.

•  Our website won a 2016 award from the 
Plain English Campaign.

•  We distributed 295,000 printed guides and 
factsheets, compared with 131,000 in 2015.

•  We almost doubled the number of 
enquiries to our Helpline, answering 
30,000 enquiries, compared with 15,900 
in 2015.

•  We continue to provide a number 
of regular payments and grants to 
older people to honour outstanding 
commitments made by Independent Age. 
In 2016, we paid out £1,389k in regular 
payments to nearly 2,000 older people, 
plus further sums in individual grants.

The media launch of our free advice 
guide, If you’re feeling lonely: How 
to stay connected in older age, in 
November, received coverage across 
the BBC, including Radio 4’s Today 
programme, BBC Breakfast, BBC One 
O’clock News, BBC News Online and 
BBC World Service.

Supporting older people in greatest 
need
Sometimes people who phone our Helpline 
are in the middle of a crisis – they could be 
desperately trying to find a care home for 
an elderly parent; they might be an older 
person who’s struggling to cope financially 
and can’t pay the bills. So it’s a great relief 
for them to be able to talk it through and be 
given clear, independent advice. 

As one caller fed back recently: 

“Your advice resulted in my mother-
in-law being able to stay in the home 
that she was happy in. All of the family 
members’ minds are at rest.” 

A surge in our online audience
An overhaul of our digital marketing, 
including our website, has resulted in a 
huge surge in our online audience. In 
the six months after our new website 
launched in May, the number of users 
rose by around 150,000, while the number 
of page views on the site increased by 
71%. Together with more targeted online 
marketing, this meant that, over the year, 
our public information was viewed online 
more than 2.3 million times – almost eight 
times as many as in 2015.

Our plans for 2017
Our priority is to build on our achievements 
so far and further increase the distribution of 
our information resources. We will broaden 
the range of topics we cover and develop 
new online and print resources, so that 
many more older people and their families 
are able to access the support they need.

We aim to:

•  achieve the Information Standard – a 
widely acknowledged quality mark 
scheme run by NHS England – to 
demonstrate that our information is clear, 
accurate and trustworthy 

•  develop a loneliness self-help tool and 
other print and online resources

•  develop more interactive content on the 
website, including a social care tool

•  expand our range of guides and 
factsheets, while also updating our current 
publications

•  raise the number of enquiries to our 
Helpline to 40,000 and increase the range 
of topics we advise on.

Trustees’
report 
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I received  
the packs of guides  
and factsheets.  
I have to say these 
are incredible! An 
excellent visual – very 
professional.
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Friendship services
What we do
With the help of our committed volunteers, 
we offer friendship services for older 
people who are lonely. These are delivered 
through phone calls, visits and telephone 
discussion groups, helping older people to 
feel more socially connected.

What we achieved in 2016 
We focused on promoting our telephone 
services and opened new offices in  
Glasgow and Newcastle to support our 
local service development. We also 
streamlined our processes and made 
improvements to our volunteering training 
and communications.

•  We grew our telephone services to enable 
many more lonely older people to  
receive a regular phone call from a  
caring volunteer.

•  We launched two new pilots. One is a 
short-term social ‘reconnections’ service 
– helping people join their community. 
And the other is a step-by-step service 
helping people meet with others again 
after going through a difficult time, 
such as a prolonged hospital stay or 
bereavement.

•  We simplified many of our processes to 
make it easier for people to access our 
services.

•  We opened two new offices to support 
our growth, serve as welcome bases for 
our volunteers and raise our local profile. 

•  We introduced more training for our 
volunteers and ran a number of local 
and national volunteer events across the 
country. 

•  Over the year, our volunteers delivered 
34,000 calls and visits to lonely older 
people between them.

“I reached a point where I knew that 
if I didn’t feel well or if I was down or 
worried about something, I thought, 
‘Who can I call? Nobody.’ And that to me 
is the essence of loneliness. Friendship 
has always been the most important 
thing in life for me. I think it’s the most 
wonderful thing in life.” 

Freda, 88

Our plans for 2017
Our priority is to build on our work to 
tackle the rising issue of loneliness among 
older people. We will do this through the 
expansion of our friendship services, 
particularly our telephone services, and by 
strengthening and growing our volunteer 
base. 

We aim to:

•  reach more lonely older people in need 
through an expansion of our telephone 
services across the UK, which includes 
a redesign of our telephone book and 
discussion groups

•  strengthen and grow our volunteer 
network by expanding our volunteer 
support team, developing our 
volunteering programme and broadening 
our range of volunteer roles

•  develop our volunteer events, providing 
our volunteers with more training, 
support and opportunities to network

•  deliver and review our pilots to increase 
social connections and improve quality 
of life for older people

•  review the impact of our new offices in 
Newcastle and Glasgow, and open more 
offices in selected areas of the country

•  increase the number of friendship visits 
and calls made to older people by our 
volunteers to 38,000.

Trustees’
report 
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It’s so nice  
to have someone to 
talk to.

Bill and Richard’s story
“It’s so nice to have someone to talk 
to,” says war veteran, Bill, who’s 98 and 
started receiving regular calls from 
an Independent Age volunteer last 
September. 

Bill lives alone and lost his wife over five 
years ago. The former 1st Army Gunner 
says that many of his friends have also 
passed away. He says, “I was looking 
for somebody to chat to and I saw an 
article in the local paper one week. Every 
Tuesday morning Richard phones me 
and we talk about what’s happened 
during the week.” 

Richard, who retired 13 years ago and 
has been volunteering for Independent 
Age for the last two, says he gets as 
much out of the calls as Bill does. He 
says, “Bill was held as a Prisoner of War 
in Czechoslovakia and closely escaped 
being sentenced to death – his life 
experiences are incredible! 

“I think the organisation is excellent. 
The people at Independent Age have 
really helped me and I’ve found there 
is much satisfaction to be gained from 
volunteering.”

Bill
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Speaking up for older 
people
What we do
We use our independent campaigning 
voice to tackle and raise awareness of the 
major issues affecting our ageing society. 
We also undertake leading research to 
ensure government, health and care 
services, and other partners, deliver the 
improvements older people seek.

What we achieved in 2016 
We saw a rapid expansion in our 
campaigning activity as we look to 
become a more influential voice for 
older people, launching our first ever 
grassroots campaign. Both our research 
and campaigning activities received 
widespread coverage in the national media.

•  We launched our campaign, Care for 
Tomorrow, calling on the government 
to provide a clear plan to address the 
growing crisis in health and care services. 
Our initial petition to the then Prime 
Minister, David Cameron, was signed 
by 16,000 members of the public and 
our campaigner base grew from 1,000 to 
nearly 30,000.

•  We spoke out in Parliament about the 
difficulties older people tell us they have 
accessing health and care services. Our 
Chief Executive, Janet Morrison, appeared 
at Select Committee inquiries, including 
one on hospital discharge, and 1 in 3 MPs 
surveyed said they were familiar with our 
Care for Tomorrow campaign.

•  We launched our research findings 
on pensioner poverty, revealing that 
pensioners aged 75 and over are 
thousands of pounds a year worse 

off than both younger ‘Baby Boomer’ 
pensioners and working age adults. 

•  We reviewed the information available 
for those trying to choose a care home 
and explored what quality in care homes 
should look like.

•  We co-produced a report with ILC-UK on 
the impact Brexit could have on the UK’s 
social care migrant workforce.  

•  We conducted research on how well 
the Care Act has been implemented by 
councils in England.

 

Our plans for 2017
Our priority is to keep bringing the most 
pressing issues faced by older people to 
the attention of the country’s decision-
makers. We will intensify our campaign 
for the government to address the crisis in 
our health and care services and work with 
other organisations to combat widespread 
loneliness.

We aim to: 

•  continue to campaign for the 
government to secure a long-term plan 
for health and care so everyone can 
receive the best care possible  in later life

•  highlight common issues raised by older 
people through our Helpline and the policy 
issues that still need addressing if the UK is 
to become a better country to grow older in

•  work with the Jo Cox Commission on 
Loneliness – a new one-year drive, 
founded by the late MP, to encourage the 
government, businesses and the public to 
take small steps to address the issue

•  launch a new campaign for everybody 
in England to enjoy the right to a good 
care home, helping older people to access 
good care and challenge bad care

•  help shape the policy agenda on topics 
where we can offer critical new thinking, 
including new research on the growing 
number of older renters and on the support 
for older people following bereavement.

Trustees’
report 
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Our campaign hits the headlines
In 2016, our campaign, Care for 
Tomorrow, received support from 
thousands of members of the public – 
and it’s still building momentum. The 
campaign calls on the government to 
address the growing crisis in health and 
care services.

Post year end, in January 2017, we 
wrote a letter to Theresa May signed 
by 75 organisations and leading voices 
in health and care, including the Royal 
College of Nursing, Marie Curie and  
the Association of Directors of Adult 
Social Services.  

The letter urged, “Unless you adopt a 
bolder approach, millions of older, ill 
and disabled people and their carers will 
continue to be badly let down.”

It received wide coverage in the national 
media and we received a reply from 
the Prime Minister acknowledging our 
concerns and saying that she is “keen to 
find a sustainable system for the future.”

We are hopeful that this is a good sign 
and we will continue to put pressure on 
the government to achieve a positive 
outcome. 
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Fundraising
We want the UK to be the best place to 
grow older and we have ambitious targets 
to increase the number of older people 
we help and the difference we make. We 
receive no funding from the government 
or other public bodies and rely on income 
from individuals, trusts and other sources, 
alongside the returns for our investments, 
to continue providing and expanding our 
services to hundreds of thousands of older 
people in need. 

What we achieved in 2016
We are extremely grateful to all those who 
supported our work in 2016. Our priorities 
over the year were to continue to expand 
our supporter base as we developed a 
strategy to meet the fundraising demands 
of our ambitious expansion plans.

•  We raised £680k in individual donations 
from regular givers and donors to our 
appeals and sponsored challenges.

•  We welcomed 4,540 new direct debit 
supporters as a result of our ongoing 
investment in donor recruitment. This 
was less than we had planned due to the 
lack of capacity amongst appropriate 
fundraising agencies.

•  We received £1,250k in legacy income.

•  We achieved £670k in trust income. 
We would like to thank all of our trust 
supporters, especially the Calouste 
Gulbenkian Foundation, Tudor Trust, John 
Ellerman Foundation, Esmée Fairbairn 
Foundation and the Big Lottery Fund, who 
have funded various areas of our work, 
including the Campaign to End Loneliness.

•  We developed our community events, 
raising over £32k through events such 

as the London Marathon, the Royal Parks 
Half Marathon and our own Big Tea. 

•  We were delighted to continue our 
partnership with Prestige Nursing+Care. 
We are very grateful for their ongoing 
support.

“While I was on the Independent Age 
website looking at the guides, I noticed 
that they were on the lookout for London 
Marathon runners. I applied on the spot.”

Our plans for 2017
The achievement of our 2020 targets will 
require a significant increase in our funds. 
With this in mind, we have put in place 

the resources to explore new fundraising 
streams and build on our existing 
fundraising work.

We aim to: 

•  continue to increase the number of 
individual donors supporting the work of 
Independent Age

•  expand community activities and 
broaden our range of supporters

•  engage with existing and new supporters 
to discuss the benefits of remembering 
Independent Age in their Will

•  propose ways that charitable trusts can 
work with us to fund some important 
new services piloted by Independent Age

•  develop a range of attractive packages to 
offer to potential corporate partners.

Trustees’
report 
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It’s just lovely! 
We’ve got such a lot 
in common… She’s a 
godsend.

We are delighted that our Christmas 
appeal, featuring the moving story 
of Janet, who receives our telephone 
service, and her volunteer Tessa, raised 
over £25,000 for Independent Age.

After losing her husband, Janet, now 
76, very bravely “put a pin in a map” 
and moved to a cottage near to an 
animal rescue centre she had started 
volunteering with.

Janet loves dogs and she threw herself 
into her voluntary work. She says, “I 
did a lot of work all over the country… 
picking up dogs and driving them to 
their foster carers.”

But, sadly, all that suddenly changed 
when she suffered a TIA – a mini stroke 
– which left her unable to carry on as 
before. Forced to give up her beloved 

volunteering, she found herself stuck 
indoors, sometimes going for days 
without speaking to anyone.

Janet was referred to Independent Age 
to receive regular phone calls from one 
of our volunteers. We quickly found her 
the perfect match – Tessa, who dog-sits 
for a living.

Tessa also lives alone and it was her 
struggle to cope with the loss of her 
mother, in particular, that prompted her 
to enrol with us as a volunteer.

Three years on, they’re still good friends. 
Janet says, “Tessa rings and it’s absolutely 
wonderful… She’ll say, ‘I’m calling from 
such and such a place with four Springer 
spaniels,’ or ‘I’ve got two Alsatians today,’ 
or whatever. It’s just lovely! We’ve got 
such a lot in common… She’s a godsend.”

Janet and Tessa’s story

Janet

Tessa
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Trustees’
report 

Campaign to End 
Loneliness 

The vision for the Campaign to End 
Loneliness is that ‘nobody who wants 
good company in their older age is 
without it’. The mission is ‘to catalyse 
UK-wide neighbourhood action by 
local organisations targeting older 
people experiencing or at risk of 
loneliness in the UK’. 

The Campaign’s strength is that it draws 
on a coalition, of over 2,000 organisations, 
campaigning to raise awareness of 
the issue of loneliness among older 
people. It has gained national and local 
policy traction because it has not been 
solely promoting the interests of one 
organisation or brand. It has been strongly 
evidence-based and has worked to put 
that evidence to use by encouraging the 
sharing of best practice in service design 
and support. 

The Campaign continued to raise 
awareness of the loneliness of older people 
and how to address it through research, 
guidance and innovative services. Their 
work included: 

•  new practical guidance around helping 
organisations identify hard to reach 
lonely older people

•  new research based on interviews with 
lonely older people describing their 
experiences

•  with partners, supporting the creation of 
the Jo Cox Commission on Loneliness.

In addition the Campaign developed its 
Strategy for 2017-2020 and in December 
2016 was awarded a grant of £2,650k 
by the Big Lottery Fund. The grant was 
to develop, in 2017 and beyond, an 
expanded programme of grassroots 
campaigns to engage 20,000 people 
and 500 organisations in reducing and 
preventing loneliness in older age. In 
2017, the Campaign will gear up to 
recruit new regional staff and establish 
the partnerships and campaigns needed 
to begin work on this ambitious new 
programme.  

The governance arrangements in respect 
of the Campaign are set out in the 
Governance section on page 23.

Financial review 
Income
The main incoming sources were:

•  Voluntary income: income from 
donations continued to grow this year. 
This is very important for the charity to 
reduce dependence on our investments 
and to allow the charity to grow to reach 
many more older people. We grew our 
income from general donations to £680k 
(£653k in 2015). We also raised £670k 
(£619k in 2015) from trusts, of which 
£211k (£263k in 2015) supported the work 
of the Campaign to End Loneliness. 
Legacy income, however, declined to 
£1,250k from £2,087k in 2015.

•  Investment income (including rental 
income): income from our investment 
assets increased to £4,511k from £4,104k, 
with a decline in fixed interest income 
of £870k being more than offset by an 
increase in dividend income of £1,299k. 
We also received reduced levels of rental 
income from the smaller number of 
remaining properties.

•  Sale of properties: the surplus of £14k in 
2016 arose from the sale of one property. 
The surplus of £6,821k in 2015 arose from 
the sale of several properties including 
the charity’s former headquarters 
building in London.

Expenditure
Charitable expenditure in the year 
increased from £6,274k to £9,374k 
accounting for 83p of every £1 of spending 
in 2016 (79p of every £1 in 2015). 

Summary
We received total income in 2016 of 
£7,181k (compared to £14,343k in 2015). 
The main changes to income and 
expenditure are highlighted below, 
but the significant reduction is due to 
the 2015 accounts reflecting one-off 
property surpluses of £6,821k. 

Against this, our total expenditure was 
£11,260k (£7,928k in 2015), resulting in 
an operating deficit of £4,079k (£6,415k 
surplus in 2015) in line with our plan. 

Our investments grew by £16,122k. 
The actuarial loss of £1,009k on the 
defined benefit pension scheme (gain 
of £1,049k in 2015) resulted in the 
net defined benefit pension liability 
increasing to £2,167k (£1,850k in 2015).

Taken together, this means that our 
total funds increased by £11,034k 
(£10,930k in 2015). 

The following sections explain our 
financial performance in more detail.
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Trustees’
report 

We classify charitable expenditure under 
our three primary activities – Information 
and advice, Wellbeing and Campaigning, 
as well as a fourth strand of Regular 
payments and grants to cover our ongoing 
commitments here:

•  Information and advice: we spent 
£3,449k (£2,699k in 2015) on our 
Information and advice services.   

•  Wellbeing: we spent £3,038k (£2,427k 
in 2015) in supporting older people with 
visits from our volunteers and through 
our telephone services.

•  Campaigning: expenditure on our 
campaigning activity increased to 
£1,802k (£1,587k in 2015). This includes 
£240k (£310k in 2015) spending on the 
Campaign to End Loneliness, much of 
which was offset by trust income of £211k 
(£263k in 2015).

•  Regular payments and grants: We also 
paid out £1,389k (£1,618k in 2015) in 
regular payments to nearly 2,000 older 
people. We do not enter into any new 
regular payment arrangements and no 
longer run a grants programme (see Note 
16 to the Financial Statements).

In addition to our charitable activities, we 
also spent £1,301k (£1,036k in 2015) on 
raising voluntary income. This includes 
£580k (£542k in 2015) of investment in face-
to-face fundraising, which will increase our 
income in 2017 and beyond. We generated 
£2.00 (£3.24 in 2015) of income for every £1 
we spent on fundraising. The reduction is 
primarily due to the much higher level of 
legacies received in 2015.

We spent a further £529k (£512k in 2015) on 
managing our investments and properties.

Reserves
The Board of Trustees approved a revised 
reserves policy in February 2017.

Independent Age is unusual in being 
a hybrid of a benevolent charity and 
a fundraising charity. Unlike many 
other charities, the income and capital 
growth received from the investment 
of our funds provides the main 
source of our day-to-day income, 
although we are also seeking to grow 
significantly our fundraised income 
to enable us to continue to expand the 
charity’s reach and impact. 

The charity holds four different types of 
funds. These are:

1) Endowed funds. These were provided by 
donors to fund specific areas of our work, 
for instance, grants, financial assistance 
and our advice service. It is a legal 
requirement that the charity does not spend 
the underlying capital of permanently 
endowed funds. Further, having adopted 
Total Return Accounting the charity is 
required to maintain the real value of 
these funds (ie to protect them from the 
eroding effects of inflation). Total Return 
Accounting does, however, allow for any 
additional investment income or growth in 
excess of this level to be spent on activities 
in line with the restrictions on these funds 
at the discretion of the Trustees.

At 31 December 2016, our endowed funds 
were £64,391k, representing growth of 
£7,231k (12.7%) over the year due to gains 
in the value of investments held and the 
income they generated.

2) Restricted funds. Like endowed funds, 
these may only be used to fund certain 

expenditure, including grants. However, the 
charity is able to spend the capital as well as 
any income.  

At 31 December 2016, our restricted funds 
were valued at £20,195k, an increase of 
£1,556k or 8.3%.

3) Designated funds. These are funds set 
aside by Trustees for specific purposes 
which will be drawn upon as required. We 
have two major designated funds. Firstly, 
our Strategic Investment Fund will finance 
the majority of the growth of our services 
in line with our 2020 strategy, as well as 
investment in fundraising to grow and 
diversify our income base. Secondly, our 
Designated Endowment Fund has been 
set aside to generate income for the long-
term future of the charity, to protect our 
spending plans in line with our Royal 
Charter. This includes a sum to cover 
potential losses on our Endowed Funds 
should investments fall in any period.

At 31 December 2016, our designated 
funds had a total value of £61,233k, a small 
reduction from the 2015 total of £61,943k. 
The Designated Endowment Fund was 
increased by 5.5% in line with our long-term 
return target CPI plus 3.9% over 2015, from 
£36,444k to £38,450k, in order to preserve 
its real value. 

As at 31 December 2016, we have separately 
identified £2,167k from the General Fund 
in respect of the deficit on the charity’s 
defined benefit pension scheme (this closed 
to new members in 2007). Note: additional 
payments are being made monthly to 
reduce this deficit over a period agreed with 
the Plan Trustees.

4) General fund. This represents the group’s 
‘free reserves’ that are not restricted or 
designated for any specific purpose. We 
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must have adequate – but not excessive 
– free reserves so as to allow the charity 
to respond to any significant, unforeseen 
events, without jeopardising our key 
services.

Reserves Policy
Trustees aim for free reserves equal to 12 
months’ planned unrestricted expenditure, 
although the actual figure may at any time 
be considerably above or below this level 
– depending on the performance of our 
investments and our fundraising activities. 
At 31 December 2016, free reserves stood at 
£26,494k, an increase of £2,957k or 12.6%, 
including £278k in Counsel and Care for 
the Elderly (£393k in 2015). This figure 
increased as a result of the growth in value 
of our investments. 

Our plans for 2017 to 2020 project a 
reduction in free reserves, although, 
as stated above, our reserves levels are 
dependent on investment performance 
and will vary considerably due to the 
volatility of financial markets – a fall in the 
value of our investments of just 15% would 
wipe out all of our General Fund (we have 
planned on the basis of a possible fall of 
up to 20% in the design of our investment 
portfolio).

The Reserves Policy is reviewed annually, 
as part of the budgeting and financial 
planning exercise.

Investment Policy
The Statement of Investment Policy 
provides the framework for the Trustees 
to manage the unrestricted assets of the 
charity.

The Trustees believe that it is their duty to 
ensure that the charity’s investment policy 

and decisions are designed to achieve 
the best return that is consistent with 
an acceptable level of risk. The charity 
requires its investment managers to 
manage the investments in a responsible 
manner and to maintain an active voting 
policy on behalf of the charity whenever 
possible. The charity does not negatively 
screen investments using any ethical or 
social responsibility filters.

The total value of our investments rose 
from £164,285k in 2015 to £175,408k in 
2016. This was due to a good investment 
performance.  

During 2016 we continued the process 
of diversification of our investment 
holdings, which started in 2015, to reduce 
volatility and take advantage of the growth 
potential of a broader range of assets. The 
composition of the investment portfolio at 
31 December 2016 is set out in Note 12 to 
the Financial Statements.

The reorganisation of the investment 
portfolio, which commenced in early 
2015, was completed in Q4 2016 when 
the final directly held investments in 
FTSE350 equities were transferred to 
two actively managed and one tracker 
pooled funds. Given these changes, which 
encompassed approximately one-third of 
the total portfolio value, it is not possible 
to generate meaningful year on year 
performance data.

The overall return, a combination of 
income and capital growth, on the total 
portfolio was CPI plus 10.7% – well ahead 
of the long-term target of CPI plus 3.9%.

Summary Statements for the 
Campaign to End Loneliness 
and Independent Age

The results of Independent Age 
include those for the Campaign to 
End Loneliness, which grew from 
a (non-legal) partnership of like-
minded organisations. Independent 
Age hosts the Campaign, manages 
and employs its staff and maintains 
oversight of the delivery of its strategy 
which for accounting and charity 
regulatory purposes constitutes 
control. Given the discrete funding 
of this activity and the relationship 
with its supporters, the table overleaf 
summarises the financial activities of 
the Campaign. 

As noted on page 16, in December 2016 
the Campaign was awarded a grant 
of £2,650k by the Big Lottery Fund to 
be received during the period 2017 to 
2020. The Campaign will therefore 
become a larger component of the 
overall financial results in future years.
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2016 2015

Campaign 
to End 

Loneliness
Independent 

Age*
Total  

Group

Campaign 
to End 

Loneliness
Independent 

Age* Total Group

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Summary Statement of Financial 
Activities

Income 211 6,970 7,181 309 14,034 14,343 

Expenditure 438 10,822 11,260 397 7,531 7,928 

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) (227) (3,852) (4,079) (88) 6,503 6,415 

Gains on investment assets 0 16,122 16,122 0 3,466 3,466 

Net Income (227) 12,270 12,043 (88) 9,969 9,881 

Other recognised gains/(losses) 0 (1,009) (1,009) 0 1,049 1,049 

Net movement in Funds (227) 11,261 11,034 (88) 11,018 10,930 

Transfer of funds 206 (206) 0 87 (87) 0 

Balance brought forward 1 January 111 161,168 161,279 112 150,237 150,349 

Fund balances carried forward at  
31 December 90 172,223 172,313 111 161,168 161,279 

Summary Balance Sheet

Fixed assets 0 181,382 181,382 0 170,620 170,620 

Current Assets 90 2,681 2,771 111 2,563 2,674 

Creditors falling due within one year 0 (1,757) (1,757) 0 (2,029) (2,029)

Total assets less current liabilities 90 182,306 182,396 111 171,154 171,265 

Creditors falling due after one year 0 (7,916) (7,916) 0 (8,136) (8,136)

Net assets excluding pension liability 90 174,390 174,480 111 163,018 163,129 

Defined pension liability 0 (2,167) (2,167) 0 (1,850) (1,850)

Net assets including pension liability 90 172,223 172,313 111 161,168 161,279 

Endowed funds 0 64,391 64,391 0 57,160 57,160 

Restricted funds 90 20,105 20,195 111 18,528 18,639 

Designated funds 0 61,233 61,233 0 61,943 61,943 

General funds 0 26,494 26,494 0 23,537 23,537 

Total Funds 90 172,223 172,313 111 161,168 161,279 

Summary Cashflow

Operating income (227) 12,270 12,043 (88) 9,969 9,881 

Non cash movements 0 (21,487) (21,487) 0 (16,697) (16,697)

Net cash flow generated (used)by 
operating activities (227) (9,217) (9,444) (88) (6,728) (6,816)

Net purchase (disposal) of tangible fixed 
assets 0 (124) (124) 0 13,436 13,436 

Net (purchase)/sale of investments 0 5,249 5,249 0 (12,503) (12,503)

Net income from investments 0 4,510 4,510 0 4,105 4,105 

Transfer of funds 206 (206) 0 87 (87) 0 

Net cash flow (21) 212 191 (1) (1,777) (1,778)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 111 912 1,023 111 2,690 2,801 

Cash and cash equivalents at  
31 December 90 1,124 1,214 110 913 1,023 

GOVERNANCE

Legal structure
Independent Age is the operating name 
of The Royal United Kingdom Beneficent 
Association (RUKBA) – registered as a 
charity by the Charity Commission for 
England and Wales (210729). The charity 
was established in 1863 and is incorporated 
by Royal Charter, which sets out our 
objects, powers and bye-laws. The latest 
Supplementary Royal Charter came into 
force in August 2014. In February 2017, the 
charity was registered with the Office of 
the Scottish Charity Regulator (SC047184).

All financial regulations and procedures 
adopted by the charity must comply with 
the relevant stipulations of the Royal 
Charter. These cover matters such as:

•  limitation on private benefits for Trustees, 
such as paid employment with the charity

•  terms of office

•  arrangements for the appointment of 
external auditors.

The Campaign to End Loneliness operates 
as a department within Independent Age  
with a widely drawn Management 
Committee reflecting the strength of the 
coalition of like-minded organisations 
that support its work. The Campaign 
has no legal identity separate from that 
of Independent Age and the Trustees of 
Independent Age are legally responsible 
for the activity of the Campaign.

Independent Age is the sole legal member 
of Counsel and Care for the Elderly, a 
charitable company limited by guarantee 
registered in England and Wales (charity 
number 203429, company number 
00645708). The charity is also responsible 
for a number of other linked charities, 

*  For the purposes of the above table, Independent Age represents the aggregation of the 
Group’s activities excluding the Campaign to End Loneliness. It should also be noted that 
this is a memorandum statement. It does not reflect either the legal or trust accounting 
status but is used to differentiate between the operational divisions within the charity.

Your advice 
resulted in my mother 
in law being able 
to stay in the home 
that she was happy 
in. All of the family 
members’ minds  
are at rest.
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namely the FE Cobbold Trust Fund, 
Backsettown Endowed Charity, and the 
Wharton and Wittrick Fund.

The charity has a wholly-owned trading 
subsidiary – Independent Age Enterprises 
Limited (company number 04735201) – 
which was dormant at 31 December 2016. 
The company will be used in future to 
record non-charitable activities and has 
been registered for VAT.

 

Risk management
We have a risk management process which 
allows the Board to monitor and manage 
risks to the charity.

The Board considers that the principal 
risks facing the charity are:

-  Safety and safeguarding: the risk that an 
older person receiving a service from the 
charity, or one of our staff or volunteers, 
suffers serious harm. We manage this risk 
through the implementation of effective 
safeguarding and whistleblowing 
policies, procedures and compulsory 
training plus effective management of 
our staff and volunteers.

-  Reputation: the risk that the charity 
suffers serious damage as a consequence 
of the actions of its staff (eg in 
providing advice), volunteers, Trustees, 
or its broader work (eg policy and 
campaigning). We manage this risk by 
ensuring that we have rigorous quality 
standards in place for our work; clear 
policies and sign-off procedures for 
our external communications; and 
good governance arrangements (eg 
declarations of interest and anti-bribery/

anti-fraud policies) to ensure legal and 
regulatory compliance. Our governance 
also ensures that we minimise the risk 
that the charity does not deliver its 
objectives through the development of a 
clear strategy and plans.

-  Organisational effectiveness: the risk 
that we fail to deliver our ambitious 
targets and make a credible impact 
through our work. We evaluate our 
performance through key performance 
indicators (which include feedback 
from older people, their carers and 
families), detailed evaluation frameworks 
and quality assurance, and we invest 
in training and development for our 
staff. We continuously review and 
improve processes and systems through 
investment in a programme of projects.

-  Data management: the risk that we 
breach data protection legislation and in 
doing so cause harm to a service user, 
supporter, member of staff, Trustee or 
the charity as a whole. We manage this 
risk through implementing effective IT 
and data security policies and procedures 
which are regularly reviewed in the light 
of regulatory changes.

-  Financial: we are reliant on our 
investments to fund a large proportion of 
our work and we must expect that there 
will be times when we suffer significant 
falls in income. These could endanger 
the ability of the charity to fund its work 
in the medium-term. We manage this 
risk by adopting a longer-term and 
total return approach to investment 
management (expecting/accepting 
volatility of returns and adopting 
sustainable spending plans that seek 

to preserve the value of our funds and 
setting an appropriate reserves policy). 
We are actively seeking to reduce our 
reliance on investments by growing the 
level of fundraised income we receive.

 

Trustees
At 31 December 2016, the Board had 14 
Trustees.

Charter Members elect all Trustees, except 
the Chairman and Treasurer, who are 
recruited by the Board of Trustees.

The Board periodically appoints new 
Charter Members.

The Board met six times in 2016, including 
a strategy awayday in July.

There are three committees that have 
delegated authority and report to the 
Board. These are:

-  Finance and Resources Committee (FRC): 
reviews budget and planning proposals 
and ensures that we have effective 
arrangements in place to safeguard and 
manage the charity’s resources. It also 
oversees our external audit and risk 
management arrangements. The FRC 
meets quarterly. During the year the 
activities of the Pensions Sub-Committee 
were subsumed into the FRC’s remit.

-  Services Development Committee 
(SDC): is responsible for oversight of the 
development and growth of our services 
to support our new strategy. The SDC met 
six times during 2016.

-  Nominations Committee: reviews 
the structure, size and composition 
of committees of the Board and sub-

Independent Age Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | 25



26 | Independent Age Annual Report and Accounts 2016 Independent Age Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | 27

committees, as well as succession 
planning of Trustees. It also makes 
recommendations to the Board for the 
appointment of all new Trustees and the 
Chief Executive.

In addition to the above committees, there 
is one sub-committee of the FRC:

-  Investment Sub-Committee (ISC): 
monitors the performance of the charity’s 
investments and managers. This sub-
committee met for the first time in October 
2014 and oversaw the transition to the fully 
diversified portfolio in the first quarter of 
2015. The ISC meets quarterly. Following 
the transfer of the UK equities to managed 
funds, the oversight in this asset class, 
formerly undertaken by the UK Equities 
Sub-Group, was assumed by the ISC.

The Board reviews the terms of reference 
of all committees and sub-committees 
annually.

Trustees are recruited by the Board through 
an open recruitment and selection process.

All Trustees receive an induction pack and 
training, so that they are aware of all key 
policies and procedures, and meet with 
key staff (including Directors) soon after 
they are co-opted to the Board. Trustees are 
required to abide by our code of conduct, 
including the declaration of other interests, 
and fit and proper person assurance.

 

Management
The Board delegates day-to-day 
management of the charity to the Chief 
Executive and the Senior Management 
Team (SMT). The SMT develops strategies 
and plans for the Board to scrutinise and 
approve. It subsequently monitors and 

reports on performance against targets.

In 2016 the charity was organised into 
three directorates, in addition to the Chief 
Executive’s small team. 

The directorates are:

-  Services: delivers our core services for 
older people, including the Helpline, 
information provision, and friendship 
services. It is our largest directorate, 
employing over half of our staff.

-  Policy and External Relations: is 
responsible for delivering our policy 
and campaigning work, research, media 
and public relations, marketing and 
fundraising.

-  Resources: comprises our support 
services, specifically finance, information 
technology, people and organisational 
development, property and office 
management. 

 

Remuneration of Key Management 
Personnel
The Trustees consider the Board of 
Trustees and the Senior Management 
Team (SMT) comprise the Key 
Management Personnel of the charity 
in charge of directing and controlling, 
running and operating the charity on a 
day-to-day basis.

All Trustees give their time freely and no 
Trustee received remuneration in the year. 
Details of Trustees’ expenses and related 
party transactions are disclosed in Note 20 
to the Financial Statements.

The charity benchmarks remuneration 
of its SMT against comparable roles 
in other charities of a similar size and 

complexity, within a specified pay band. 
If recruitment has proven difficult in the 
recent past, a market addition may be paid 
to a maximum no greater than the highest 
benchmarked salary for a comparable 
role. Each member of the SMT receives an 
annual cost of living salary increase, which 
takes into account inflation, changes in 
national average earnings and pay awards 
elsewhere in the charity or public sector. 
The award is made subject to affordability 
and is paid at the same rate as applied to all 
other eligible staff in the charity.

Trustees’
report 

I think the 
organisation is 
excellent. The people 
at Independent Age 
have really helped me 
and I’ve found there 
is much satisfaction 
to be gained from 
volunteering.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
TO AUDITORS
The Trustees in office at the date of 
approval of this Trustees’ Annual Report 
confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of 
which the charity’s auditors are unaware 
and each Trustee has taken all the steps 
they ought to have taken as a Trustee to 
make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that 
the charity’s auditors are aware of the 
information.

PUBLIC BENEFIT
The public benefit of the charity is set 
out in our mission to enable older people 
to stay independent and live well with 
dignity, choice and control. Our work 
benefits thousands of older people – 
and their families and carers – across 
the UK. Our Helpline and information 
resources also benefit those who work 
with older people. All our services are 
free and without restriction, although 
our friendship services are specifically 
provided for older people who are lonely 
or isolated. In setting our objectives 
and planning activities for the year, the 
Board of Trustees confirms that it has 
considered the Charity Commission’s 
guidance on public benefit and considers 
that Independent Age clearly satisfies the 
public benefit test.

TRUE AND FAIR VIEW
The financial statements have been 
prepared to give a ‘true and fair view’ and 
have departed from the Charities (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the 
extent required to provide a ‘true and fair 
view’. This departure has involved following 
the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 

Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their 
accounts in accordance with FRS 102 issued 
on 16 July 2014 rather than the Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice effective from 1 
April 2005 which has since been withdrawn.

TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Trustees are responsible for preparing 
the Trustees’ Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

The law, applicable to charities in England 
and Wales and Scotland, requires the 
Trustees to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the charity and 
the group and of the incoming resources 
and application of resources of the group 
for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Trustees are required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and 
then apply them consistently

•  observe the methods and principles in 
the Charities SORP 2015 FRS 102

•  make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

•  state whether applicable United 
Kingdom accounting standards have 
been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements

•  prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the charity 
will continue in operation.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records that are 

sufficient to show and explain the 
transactions of the charity and the group, 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy, 
at any time, the financial position of the 
charity and the group and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Charities Act 2011, the 
Charity (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) regulations 2006 and the 
provisions of the Royal Charter. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charity and the group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

Approved by the Board of Trustees on  
25 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Dame Diana Brittan 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees
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Independent auditors’  report to the Trustees 
of Independent Age 

We have audited the financial statements 
of independent Age for the year ended 31 
December 2016 which comprise the Group 
Statement of Financial Activities, the Group 
and Parent Charity Balance Sheet, the 
Group Cash Flow Statement and the related 
notes.  The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) 
including FRS 102 ‘‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland’’.

This report is made solely to the charity’s 
Trustees, as a body, in accordance with 
the Charities Act 2011 and section 44(1)(c) 
of the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 10 
of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the charity’s Trustees those 
matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditors’ report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the 
charity and the charity’s Trustees as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of 
Trustees and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement 
of Trustees’ Responsibilities, the Trustees 
are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view.

We have been appointed as auditor under 
Section 154 of the Charities Act 2011 and 
under section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and report in accordance with regulations 
made under those Acts. Our responsibility 
is to audit and express an opinion on 
the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  
Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an assessment 
of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the group’s and parent 
charity’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by 
the Trustees; and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. In addition, 
we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Trustees’ Annual Report 
to identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements and to 
identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by us in the course of performing the 

audit. If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies 
we consider the implications for our 
report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and the parent charity’s affairs as 
at 31 December 2016, and of the group’s 
incoming resources and application of 
resources for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Charities Act 2011 
and the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 
8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Opinion on other matter prescribed 
by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the audit:

•  the information given in the Trustees’ 
Annual Report (including the Strategic 
Report) for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; 
and

•  the Strategic Report and the Trustees’ 
Annual Report have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Charities Act 
2011 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires us 
to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  the information given in the Trustees’ 
Annual Report is inconsistent in any 
material respect with the financial 
statements; or

•  proper accounting records have not been 
kept; or

•  the parent charity’s financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

•  we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit.

MHA MacIntyre Hudson

Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Auditor

New Bridge Street House,  
30-34 New Bridge Street 
London, EC4V 6BJ

Date:

MHA MacIntyre Hudson is eligible to act 
as auditors in terms of section 1212 of the 
Companies Act 2006.
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Administrative 
information 
Group information

Independent Age is the operating name 
of The Royal United Kingdom Beneficent 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities 
(including an Income and Expenditure Account)
for the year ended 31 December 2016

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Year to 31 
December 

2016 

Year to 31  
December  

2015 

Notes Unrestricted 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Endowed 
funds

Total  
funds

Total  
funds

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income and endowments from:

Donations and legacies 2 2,248 352 - 2,600 3,359

Raising funds - events 32 - - 32 32

Investment income 3 2,387 522 1,602 4,511 4,104

Other income 

Other income 24 - - 24 27

Surplus from property sales 11 14 - - 14 6,821

Total income and endowments 4,705 874 1,602 7,181 14,343

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 

Raising voluntary income 4 1,301 - - 1,301 1,036

Investment and property management 280 61 188 529 512

Total cost of raising funds 1,581 61 188 1,830 1,548

Charitable activities

Information and Advice 4 2,585 864 - 3,449 2,699

Wellbeing 4 3,038 - - 3,038 2,427

Campaigning 4 1,562 240 - 1,802 1,587

Regular Payments and Grants 4 & 16 1,038 47 - 1,085 (439)

Total cost of charitable activities 8,223 1,151 - 9,374 6,274

Other expenditure

Pension – Net interest cost 17 56 - - 56 106

Total expenditure 9,860 1,212 188 11,260 7,928

Operating (deficit)/surplus (5,155) (338) 1,414 (4,079) 6,415

Gains on investment assets 12 8,661 1,894 5,817 16,372 3,491

Impairment in value of investment properties 10 (250) - - (250) (25)

Net income 3,256 1,556 7,231 12,043 9,881

Other recognised gains/(losses) 

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit  
pension scheme 17 (1,009) - - (1,009) 1,049

Net movement in funds 2,247 1,556 7,231 11,034 10,930

Fund balances brought forward at 1 January 85,480 18,639 57,160 161,279 150,349

Fund balances carried forward at 31 December 18 87,727 20,195 64,391 172,313 161,279

All activities of the group are classified as continuing. The statement of financial activities includes all gains and 
losses recognised in the year. Notes 1 to 22 form part of the financial statements.

Group and Charity Balance Sheets 
as at 31 December 2016

  Group 2016 Group 2015 Charity 2016 Charity 2015

Notes Total funds Total funds Total funds Total funds

  £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 8 2,299 2,350 2,299 2,350

Intangible assets 9 500 471 500 471

Investment properties 10 3,055 3,305 3,055 3,305

Investments 12 175,408 164,285 175,408 164,285

Concessionary loans 13 120 209 120 209

Total fixed assets 181,382 170,620 181,382 170,620

Current assets

Assets held for sale 11 - 160 - 160

Debtors 14 1,557 1,491 1,312 1,120

Short-term deposits 89 89 89 89

Cash at bank and in hand 1,125 934 1,092 912

Total current assets 2,771 2,674 2,493 2,281

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (1,757) (2,029) (1,757) (2,029)

Net current assets 1,014 645 736 252

Total assets less current liabilities 182,396 171,265 182,118 170,872

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (7,916) (8,136) (7,916) (8,136)

Net assets excluding pension liability 174,480 163,129 174,202 162,736

Defined benefit pension liability 17 (2,167) (1,850) (2,167) (1,850)

Net assets including pension liability 172,313 161,279 172,035 160,886

The funds of the group/charity: 18

Endowed funds 64,391 57,160 64,391 57,160

Restricted funds 20,195 18,639 20,195 18,639

Unrestricted funds

Designated funds 61,233 61,943 61,233 61,943

General fund 26,494 23,537 26,216 23,144

Total unrestricted funds 87,727 85,480 87,449 85,087

Total group/charity funds 172,313 161,279 172,035 160,886

Approved by the Board of Trustees and authorised for issue on 25 May 2017 and signed on their behalf by:

Dame Diana Brittan

Chairman of the Board of Trustees

Date: 25 May 2017

Notes 1 to 22 form part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 

 2016 2015 

Note £000 £000

Net cash outflow from operating activities 21

Net cash used in operating activities (9,444) (6,816)

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets 8 (115) (129)

Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets 9   (183) (261)

Receipts from sales of Assets Held for Sale 11 174 13,826

Payments to acquire investments (114,525) (106,689)

Receipts from sales of investments and cash transfers 119,774 94,187

Dividends received 549 1,427

Interest received 3,878 2,580

Rents received from investment properties 83 97

Net cash flow from investment activities 9,635 5,038

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 191 (1,778)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,023 2,801

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,214 1,023

 2016 2015

£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,125 934

Short-term deposits 89 89

Cash and cash equivalents 1,214 1,023

Cash and cash equivalents includes £90k (£111k in 2015) of funds held in respect of the Campaign to End 
Loneliness.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

1  Accounting policies

  The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty in the preparation of the financial statements are as follows:

a)  Basis of preparation
   The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the 

historical cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair value. The statements 
have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice applicable to charities (Charities SORP) preparing their 
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (issued on 16 July 2014) – Charities SORP FRS102, and the 
Charities Act 2011.

  The financial statements have been prepared to give a ‘true and fair view’ and have 
departed from the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent 
required to provide a ‘true and fair view’. This departure has involved following the 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with FRS 102 issued on 16 July 2014 
rather than the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice effective from 1 April 2005, which has since been withdrawn.

  The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities and Group Balance Sheet consolidate 
the financial statements of Independent Age and Counsel and Care for the Elderly 
(Counsel and Care) – a registered charity number 203429, and a limited company number 
645708. For the purposes of the financial statements, Independent Age is deemed to 
control 100% of Counsel and Care as it is the sole legal member. The results of Counsel 
and Care are consolidated on a line-by-line basis. The income, expenditure and funds of 
Counsel and Care can be seen in Note 18.

  The net income of Independent Age, the charity, was £12,158k (£9,861k in 2015).

  The charity has been entered on the Scottish Charity Register (charity number SC047184) 
as of 17 February 2017 and is required to provide the Regulator (OSCR) with a charity only 
Statement of Financial Activities. As the subsidiary of the charity does not represent a 
material component of the group, a charity Statement of Financial Activities has not been 
produced as a separate financial statement, instead the results of the charity are given in 
the table below:

 Unrestricted 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Endowed 
funds

TOTAL 
2016

TOTAL 
2015

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Total income and endowments 4,382 874 1,602 6,858 14,343

Total expenditure 9,422 1,212 188 10,822 7,928

Operating (deficit)/surplus (5,040) (338) 1,414 (3,964) 6,415

Gains on investment assets 8,411 1,894 5,817 16,122 3,466

Net income 3,371 1,556 7,231 12,158 9,881

Other recognised (losses)/gains (1,009) - - (1,009) 1,049

Net movement in funds 2,362 1,556 7,231 11,149 10,930

Fund balances brought forward at 1 January 85,087 18,639 57,160 160,886 150,349

Fund balances carried forward at 31 December 87,449 20,195 64,391 172,035 161,279
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  Independent Age is the sole shareholder of Independent Age Enterprises Limited 
(04735201) which was dormant as at 31 December 2016. From 1 January 2017 non-
charitable activities of Independent Age will be accounted for within the Company.

  Independent Age meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and 
liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s). The accounting are presented in Sterling 
and rounded to the nearest thousand.

b) Fund accounting
  Independent Age has a number of discrete funds which are grouped by type as shown below:

  Endowed funds 
These are funds normally arising as a result of a will which contained restrictions on the 
retention of the capital value and disposal of any income.

  The General Endowment Fund was created by the Supplementary Royal Charter which 
came into effect on 1 August 2014.

  Managing Trustee 
    Independent Age is the Managing Trustee of the F E Cobbold, Backsettown 

Endowed Charity and Wharton & Wittrick Funds. As such the Board of Trustees 
consider and approve resolutions specific to these Funds as appropriate.

  As shown in Note 1 c) below the Trustees are required to maintain the capital of these funds 
but they may choose to spend some or all of the Unapplied Total Return – see Note 18.

  Restricted funds 
These are funds that can be spent, at the discretion of the Trustees, on particular restricted 
purposes within the objects of Independent Age. Restrictions arise when specified by the 
donor, as modified by any Charity Commission scheme, or when funds are raised for 
particular purposes.

  Additionally, where assets have been transferred to Independent Age under Charity 
Commission schemes, and there are restrictions as to the use of the sums transferred, 
these are treated as Restricted Funds.

  Unrestricted funds 
These are funds which can be spent in accordance with Independent Age’s objects at the 
discretion of the Trustees.

   Designated funds 
Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the 
Trustees for particular purposes, including strategic development.

   General Fund 
This Fund represents the charity’s free reserves which have been identified within 
the reserves policy as a buffer against falls in income. The policy identifies the need 
to maintain sufficient funds to cover 12 months of unrestricted revenue expenditure.

 Further details of the charity’s funds are disclosed in Note 18.

c) Total Return Accounting 
  Independent Age adopted Total Return accounting for its endowed funds with effect from 

1 January 2015. This adoption is permitted for the General Endowment Fund by virtue 
of the Byelaws to the Supplementary Royal Charter 2014 and for the other permanent 
endowed funds through the resolutions relating to the other funds passed by the Board of 
Trustees in December 2014.

  The Trustees are required to maintain the capital of the endowed funds in real terms by 
making a transfer from the Unapplied Total Return equal to the increase in Consumer 

Price Index (CPI) from the base point to the Balance Sheet date. Any amounts remaining 
after this transfer in the Unapplied Total Return will be applied to income funds or retained 
as the Trustees see fit. Any income funds not disbursed in the financial year are retained 
as Unapplied Total Return.

 The base point at which the CPI has been taken from for each fund is as follows:

 -  General Endowment Fund – 1 August 2014, in line with the implementation of the 
Supplementary Royal Charter; and

 -  Remaining permanent endowment funds – 4 December 2014, representing the date of 
the Board resolutions to adopt Total Return Accounting for these funds.

d) Income recognition 
  All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the income, it is probable that 

the income will be received and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

  Donations are recognised when the charity has been notified in writing of both the amount 
and settlement date or on a receipts basis if earlier. In the event that a donation is subject 
to conditions that require a level of performance before the charity is entitled to the funds, 
the income is deferred and not recognised until either those conditions are fully met, or the 
fulfilment of those conditions is wholly within the control of the charity and it is probable 
that those conditions will be fulfilled in the reporting period.

  Legacy gifts are recognised on a case by case basis following the granting of probate when 
the administrator/executor for the estate has communicated in writing both the estimated 
amount and probable settlement date. In the event that the gift is in the form of an asset 
other than cash or a financial asset traded on a recognised stock exchange, recognition 
is subject to the value of the gift being reliably measurable with a degree of reasonable 
accuracy and the title to the asset having been transferred to the charity. Reversionary 
legacies are not recognised during the lifetime of the original beneficiary under the will.

  Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be 
measured reliably by the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or 
payable by the bank. Dividends are recognised once the dividend has been declared and 
notification has been received of the dividend due. This is normally upon notification 
by our investment advisor of the dividend yield of the investment portfolio. Returns on 
accumulation units held in pooled funds, which are reinvested by default, are included 
within ‘Gains on investment assets’.

e) Expenditure 
  Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation 

committing the charity to that expenditure, it is probable that settlement will be required and 
the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. All expenditure is accounted for on 
an accruals basis inclusive of any VAT. The charity is not registered for VAT so is unable to 
recover any of the tax paid, therefore costs include VAT where applicable.

  Expenditure on raising funds comprises investment and property management fees and the 
direct costs of raising voluntary income where not included within charitable activities.

  Charitable activities comprises direct expenditure, including 20% of the total costs of raising 
voluntary income, relating to the objects of Independent Age and a proportion of the 
support costs.

  Support and indirect costs have been allocated to governance costs and other support costs. 
Governance costs comprise all expenditure involving the public accountability of the charity 
and its compliance with regulation and good practice. These costs include some legal fees, 
plus the costs of Trustees’ and Charter Members’ meetings, and the costs of compliance 
such as audit fees. An apportionment of senior management costs, principally the Chief 
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Executive and Director of Resources, is allocated to Governance to represent the time taken 
on such activities including meetings with Trustees. Support costs (including Governance 
costs) are allocated to the costs of Raising Funds and Charitable Activities on the basis of the 
numbers of staff engaged in each of these elements. These formulae are reviewed annually.

f) Tangible and intangible assets  
  Tangible and intangible assets costing more than £5,000, including any incidental 

expenses of acquisition, are capitalised and recorded at cost. 

  The costs of implementing computer software designed to improve the handling of 
data within the charity, with a consequent cost savings benefit, have been capitalised as 
Intangible Assets.

  Depreciation/amortisation is calculated and charged to the Statement of Financial 
Activities on a quarterly basis commencing in the first full quarter after the asset was 
acquired/came into use.

  Depreciation/amortisation is calculated so as to write off the cost of the tangible assets on 
a straight line basis over the expected useful economic lives of the assets concerned which 
are taken as:

 Tangible assets

 Plant and machinery:

    Electrical installations 10 to 25 years
    Mechanical installations 10 to 25 years
    Architectural components 20 to 30 years
    Lift 15 years

  The expected useful economic life of each item of plant and machinery has been  
determined by independent consulting quantity surveyors.

 Fixtures, fittings and equipment:

    Furniture and fittings 10 to 15 years
    ICT hardware 3 years
    Office equipment 3 years

 Buildings:

    Freehold buildings 50 years

  No value has historically been recorded for freehold land owned by the charity as it cannot 
be practically measured.

 Intangible assets

 Computer software 3 years

 Representing the useful economic life of the assets.

g) Investment Properties 
  The Board of Trustees determined in February 2014 that all property not required for 

operational purposes should be disposed of at the appropriate time. Prior to sale these 
properties are treated as investment properties. Investment properties are initially 
recognised at their transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value as 
at the balance sheet date. Fair value is ascertained either by an independent valuer or 
reference to movements in the market value of similar properties.

  Surpluses on the sale of properties are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities as 
they are realised. Unrealised gains and losses on revaluation of investment properties are 
shown in the Statement of Financial Activities.

 Properties for sale at the Balance Sheet date are reported as Assets Held For Sale.

h) Investments 
  Investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their 

transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value using the closing quoted 
market price. All gains and losses are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities as they 
arise. The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains and losses arising on 
revaluations and disposals throughout the year. As investments are revalued continuously 
to fair value, no realised gains or losses arise.

  The charity does not acquire or hold put options, derivatives or other complex financial 
instruments.

i) Financial Instruments 
  The charity only holds basic Financial Instruments. The financial assets and financial 

liabilities of the Charity are as follows:

  Debtors – trade and other debtors (including accrued income) are basic financial 
instruments and are debt instruments measured at amortised cost as detailed in Note 14. 
Prepayments are not financial instruments. 

  Cash at bank – is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value.

  Liabilities – trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are classified as financial 
instruments, and are measured at amortised cost as detailed in Note 15. Taxation and 
social security are not included in the financial instruments disclosure. Deferred income 
is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place 
and there is simply an obligation to deliver charitable services rather than cash or another 
financial instrument.

j) Concessionary loans 
  These are amounts that were awarded as loans to individual beneficiaries who were 

leaseholders or freeholders of their property, mainly for household repairs and 
maintenance. The practice of awarding such loans was ended in May 2014 and no further 
loans will be made.

  A provision for non-repayment is made against the aggregate value of loans issued and 
is reviewed annually, this has been calculated as 67% (2015: 67%) based on past experience 
of repayments and on management’s current expectations. Loans are written off when 
there is no realistic prospect of any further recovery. The loans are not subject to interest 
charges. It is expected that loans will be repaid when the beneficiary has the capital 
available or from the beneficiary’s estate on the death of the member.

k) Regular payments 
  The estimated net present value of the regular payments to Independent Age’s 

beneficiaries is treated as a long-term liability. The long term provision is calculated using 
life expectancy tables to determine the period for which the regular payments may be 
made. The commitment is discounted using the iBoxx 10 year Sterling Non-Gilt Bond 
index. The movement on the regular payments provision is included within Regular 
Payments and Grants costs in the Statement of Financial Activities. The movement in the 
year includes the unwinding of the discount factor used to estimate the current value of 
future commitments. 

l) Pensions 
  Independent Age operates a defined benefits (final salary) pension scheme, which is 

closed to new members. The current service costs of the scheme, together with the 
interest cost less the expected return on assets for the year, are charged to the Statement 
of Financial Activities within staff costs. The actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
immediately after net income/expenditure as other recognised gains and losses. Further 
details are provided in Note 17.
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  The assets of the scheme are measured at fair value at the Balance Sheet date. Liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis at the Balance Sheet date using the projected unit 
method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality 
corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme liabilities. The resulting defined benefit 
pension asset or liability is presented separately after other net assets on the face of the 
Balance Sheet.

  Independent Age also operates a defined contribution pension scheme and contributions 
have been accounted for in the period to which they relate. This scheme has been 
accredited for the purposes of Auto-enrolment. 

m) Foreign currencies  
  Foreign currency transactions are initially recognised by applying to the foreign currency 

amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency 
at the spot rate on the date of the transaction.

  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Balance Sheet 
date are translated using the closing rate.

n) Taxation 
  Independent Age and Counsel and Care are registered charities (numbers 210729 and 

203429 respectively) and, as such, are entitled to certain tax exemptions on income and 
profits on investments and surpluses on any trading activities carried on in furtherance 
of the charities’ primary objectives, if these profits and surpluses are applied solely for 
charitable purposes.

2 Donations and Legacies

 Unrestricted 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Endowed 
funds 2016 2015

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Donations 680 - - 680 653

Income from Trusts 318 352 - 670 619

Legacies 1,250 - - 1,250 2,087

2,248 352 - 2,600 3,359

  Income from Trusts includes £211,300 (2015: £262,889) in restricted funds relating to the 
Campaign to End Loneliness.  

3 Investment income

  
Unrestricted 

funds
Restricted 

funds
Endowed 

funds 2016 2015

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed interest income 284 64 198 546 1,416

Dividend income 2,017 458 1,404 3,879 2,580

Sub total – Investments 2,301 522 1,602 4,425 3,996

Investment property rental income 83 - - 83 97

Bank deposit interest 3 - - 3 11

2,387 522 1,602 4,511 4,104

4 Expenditure allocations 

 
Raising 

Voluntary 
Income  

Information  
and Advice  Wellbeing Campaigning

Regular 
Payments 

and Grants
Marketing 

and Comms TOTALS

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Staff costs 450 796 1,212 484 10 650 3,602

Non staff costs 832 852 262 304 1,065 569 3,884

Sub total – Direct costs 1,282 1,648 1,474 788 1,075 1,219 7,486

Support costs 344 812 1,233 350 10 440 3,189

Sub total – All costs 1,626 2,460 2,707 1,138 1,085 1,659 10,675

Reallocation – 
Fundraising (325) 325 - - - - -

Reallocation –  
Marketing and Comms - 664 331 664 - (1,659) -

Sub total  
allocated costs 1,301 3,449 3,038 1,802 1,085 - 10,675

Investment and  
property management 529

Pension – Other finance 
expenditure 56

Total expenditure 11,260

2015

Total allocated costs 1,036 2,699 2,427 1,587 (439) - 7,310

Investment and  
property management 512

Pension – Other finance 
expenditure 106

Total expenditure 7,928

  Direct Campaigning costs include £239,637 (2015: £310,202) relating to the Campaign 
to End Loneliness. On behalf of the partnership of all five organisations on the 
“management group”, Independent Age has taken on responsibility to employ the 
staff and manage the budget of the Campaign to End Loneliness, which is subject 
to the charity’s financial policies and procedures. This includes monthly reviews of 
management accounts and reporting to the funders on a regular basis.

Support Costs Staff  
costs

Non staff 
costs

Total  
2016

Total  
2015

£000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive’s Office 192 31 223 206

Director of Resources 162 86 248 207

Facilities 59 289 348 322

ICT 329 611 940 676

HR 364 591 955 878

Finance 283 91 374 340

Governance - 101 101 73

Allocated 1,389 1,800 3,189 2,702

 
Governance Costs 2016 2015 

 £000 £000

External audit fees including Counsel and Care 33 26

Legal and other professional fees 52 17

Trustee recruitment fees 12 27

Trustees’ meetings including expenses and AGM 4 3

Total Governance costs 101 73

  The apportionment of support costs was made pro-rata to the number of staff (FTE) in each 
of the activity areas. Facilities costs were apportioned pro-rata to head office based staff only. 
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  The charity indemnifies every Trustee in respect of any liability arising from or in respect 
of the charity under Bye Law 12 to the Supplementary Royal Charter.

5 Staff costs and employee benefits

2016 2015 

 £000 £000

Salaries 3,893 3,412

Temporary staff costs 350 371

Employer National Insurance 415 357

Employer pensions contributions 333 236

4,991 4,376

  Total remuneration of the Key Management Personnel (which comprise the Trustees with 
the Senior Management Team comprising the Chief Executive and Directors), including 
pension contributions, was £445,606 (2015: £432,807).

 No Trustees received nor waived any remuneration.

  In addition to the above salary costs, redundancy and termination payments totalling 
£124,267 (2015: £237,323) were made. Costs arose due to a restructuring of the charity to 
ensure we had the right structures in place to deliver our ambitious strategy 2015-2020.

6 Average monthly staff numbers 

2016 FTE 2015 FTE

Information and Advice (including Regular Payments and Grants) 21 21

Wellbeing 36 29

Campaigning 10 10

Fundraising 9 6

Marketing and Communications 12 14

Governance and Support 21 18

109 98

7 Number of employees with total emoluments (excluding pensions) of more than £60,000

2016 2015

£60,001 – £70,000 4 3

£80,001 – £90,000 2 1

£90,001 – £100,000 2 2

£110,001 – £120,000 1 1

9 7

8 Tangible fixed assets

Group and charity
Freehold 

Buildings
Plant and 

Machinery

Fixture, 
Fittings and 
Equipment TOTALS

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost

As at 1 January 2016     1,113 1,119 507 2,739

Additions 91 - 24 115

Disposals - - (30) (30)

TOTAL 1,204 1,119 501 2,824

Depreciation

As at 1 January 2016 27 77 285 389

Depreciation charge in the year 23 56 87 166

Disposals - - (30) (30)

TOTAL 50 133 342 525

Net book value

As at 31 December 2016 1,154 986 159 2,299

As at 31 December 2015 1,086 1,042 222 2,350

9 Intangible fixed assets

Group and charity
Computer 

Software TOTALS

£000 £000

Cost

As at 1 January 2016 509 509

Additions 183 183

TOTAL 692 692

Amortisation

As at 1 January 2016 38 38

Amortisation charge in the year 154 154

TOTAL 192 192

Net book value

As at 31 December 2016 500 500

As at 31 December 2015 471 471

10 Investment properties

Group and charity 2016 2015

£000 £000

As at 1 January 3,305 4,039

Transfer to Assets held for sale - (504)

Disposals - (205)

Impairment in value (250) (25)

As at 31 December 3,055 3,305

Historic cost 3,080 3,330

  The investment properties, many of which are subject to long-term tenancies, were valued 
as at 31 December 2014 by a combination of external surveyors, use of the RICS Red Book, 
or comparison to the market values of similar properties. The Trustees are satisfied that, 
having reviewed available data on market activity in the respective locations, there has 
been no significant change from that date in relation to any of the properties requiring 
any further revaluation. The impairment in value represents the withdrawal of the sum, 
incorrectly recorded in previous years, relating to a property that the charity expects to 
receive as a result of a residuary legacy but does not yet own.

11 Assets held for sale

Group and charity 2016 2015

£000 £000

As at 1 January 160 6,417

Transfer from Investment properties - 504

Disposals (160) (6,761)

As at 31 December 0 160

Historic cost 0 175

  During 2016 sales receipts of £174k (2015: £13,787k) in respect of the property with a book 
value of £160k (2015: £6,966k combined) were received. The surplus on sales of £14k (2015: 
£6,821k) has been included in the Statement of Financial Activities.
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12 Investments

Group and charity
Unrestricted 

funds
Restricted 

funds
Endowed 

funds 2016 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Quoted investments 82,945 19,011 63,689 165,645 159,996

Quoted liquid funds 9,763 - - 9,763 4,289

Investments held with fund managers 92,708 19,011 63,689 175,408 164,285

 Reconciliation of investments held with fund managers

Group and charity 2016 2015

£000 £000

Market value at 1 January 164,285 148,042

Additions 114,525 106,531

Disposals (114,524) (94,187)

Net unrealised gains 16,372 3,491

Movement in cash (5,250) 408

Market value at 31 December 175,408 164,285

Historical cost at 31 December 162,068 150,055

 Investments held with fund managers – analysis by type

Group and charity 2016 2015

£000 £000

UK equities – FTSE350 61,179 59,518

UK equities – smaller companies 10,059 9,257

Global equities 41,542 35,424

Fixed income 12,828 17,065

Diversified growth funds 40,037 38,732

Quoted liquid funds 9,763 4,289

175,408 164,285

  
  Note: The UK Equities Portfolio held at the start of the year, valued at £59m, was sold/

transferred to three pooled investment funds in November 2016. These transactions 
accounted for more than half of the purchases and sales in the year.

13 Concessionary Loans

Group and charity 2016 2015 

£000 £000

Loan balance as at 1 January 591 616

Loans repaid (29) (25)

Impairment (177) -

Total loans outstanding 385 591

Provision (265) (382)

120 209

  
  These loans represent interest free advancements to qualifying beneficiaries, to assist with 

essential house repairs, and are repayable as the individual beneficiary’s circumstances 
allow. Note: This practice was ended in May 2014 and no further loans will be made.

  The recoverability of these loans was reappraised during the year and, as a result, the total 
value was impaired by £177k.

14 Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 

Group Charity

2016 2015 2016 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000

Debtors 8 2 8 2

Other debtors 18 22 18 22

Prepayments 72 30 72 30

Accrued income 1,459 1,437 1,214 1,066

1,557 1,491 1,312 1,120

15 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Charity

2016 2015 2016 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade creditors 374 230 374 230

Regular payment liability (Note 16) 1,318 1,483 1,318 1,483

Other creditors - 102 - 102

Accruals 44 95 44 95

Deferred income 21 119 21 119

1,757 2,029 1,757 2,029

Movement in deferred income 2016 2015

£000 £000

Deferred income brought forward   119  183

Amounts released in the year (119) (183)

Amounts deferred in the year 21 119

Deferred income carried forward 21 119

16 Reconciliation of Regular Payments 

Group and charity 2015 2014

£000 £000

Commitments at  1 January 9,619 12,001

Movement in provision 1,004 (764)

Amount paid in the year (1,389) (1,618)

Commitments at 31 December 9,234 9,619

Payable within one year – see Note 15 1,318 1,483

Payable after one year 7,916 8,136

Commitments at 31 December 9,234 9,619

  The movement in the provision is derived from three factors: the numbers of annuitants 
at the year end, changes in the discount factor and changes in the mortality tables used 
to determine life expectancy. At 31 December 2016 the number of annuitants, 1,766, was 
233 less than at the same date in the previous year (2015: 1,999) which has reduced the 
overall commitment. The discount factor, which is used to calculate the current value 
of future payments, however, decreased from 3.43% to 2.42% resulting in an increase in 
the provision. As this increase is less than the sums paid during the year, there is a small 
decrease in the liability at the year end.

17 Pension schemes 

  The employer, Independent Age, operates a defined benefit (final salary) scheme in the 
UK. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 30 September 2013 and updated to 31 
December 2016 by a qualified actuary, independent of the scheme’s sponsoring employer.  
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The major assumptions used by the actuary are shown below.

  The most recent triennial actuarial valuation at 30 September 2013 showed a deficit 
of £4,042,000. The employer currently pays contributions at the rate of 26.7% p.a. of 
members’ earnings in respect of non-contributory members and 20.7% p.a. of members’ 
earnings in respect of contributory members. In addition, the employer pays £764,000 
p.a. in respect of the funding shortfall and £62,487 p.a. in respect of scheme expenses. 
Member contributions are payable in addition at the rate of 6.0% p.a. of members’ earnings 
in respect of contributory members only. The PPF levy is paid separately by the employer 
upon receipt of the invoice.

  PRESENT VALUES OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION, FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND DEFINED BENEFIT 
LIABILITY

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

£000 £000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 19,024 15,816   15,527   

Present value of defined benefit obligation (21,191) (17,666) (18,968)   

Deficit in plan (2,167) (1,850) (3,441)  

Unrecognised surplus - -   -   

Defined benefit liability to be recognised (2,167) (1,850) (3,441)  

  

 RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Year ending 
31 December 

2016

Year ending 
31 December 

2015

£000 £000

Defined benefit obligation at start of period 17,666 18,968

Current service cost 78 86

Expenses 81 80

Interest expense 655 633

Contributions by plan participants 21 23

Actuarial losses/(gains) 3,708 (1,214)

Benefits paid and expenses (1,018) (910)

Defined benefit obligation at end of period 21,191 17,666

   

 RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

Year ending 
31 December 

2016

Year ending 
31 December 

2015

£000 £000

Fair value of plan assets at start of period 15,816 15,527

Interest income 599 527

Actuarial gains/(losses) 2,699 (165)

Contributions by the employer 907 814

Contributions by plan participants 21 23

Benefits paid and expenses (1,018) (910)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 19,024 15,816

   

  The actual return on the scheme assets over the year ending 31 December 2016 was 
£3,298,000.

 

 DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Year ending 
31 December 

2016

Year ending 
31 December 

2015

£000 £000

Current service cost (included within Staff costs) 78 86

Expenses (included within Staff costs) 81 80

Net interest cost 56 106

Defined benefit costs recognised in Statement of Financial Activities 215 272

  DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED AS OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES IN THE STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Year ending 
31 December 

2016

Year ending 
31 December 

2015

£000 £000

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest cost) – gain/(loss) 2,699 (165)

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities – gain 4 12

Effects of changes in the demographic and financial assumptions underlying the present value of the 
plan liabilities – (loss)/gain (3,712) 1,202

Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit pension scheme in the Statement of Financial Activities (1,009) 1,049

 ASSETS 

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2104

£000 £000 £000

Equity-type assets 12,439 10,631 10,298

Fixed Interest Bonds 736 665 717

Index-Linked Bonds 3,463 2,266 2,366

Fixed Interest Gilts 860 748 860

Property 1,442 1,360 1,202

Other 84 146 84

Total assets 19,024 15,816 15,527

  None of the fair value of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the 
employer’s own financial instruments or any property occupied by, or any other assets 
used by, the employer.

 ASSUMPTIONS

31 December 
2016

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

% per annum % per annum % per annum

Discount Rate 2.65 3.80 3.40  

Inflation (RPI) 3.35 3.10 3.10  

Inflation (CPI) 2.35 2.10 2.10  

Salary growth 2.35 2.10 2.10  

Allowance for revaluation of deferred pensions of RPI or 5% p.a. if less 3.35 3.10 3.10  

Allowance for pension in payment increases of CPI or 5% p.a. if less 2.40 2.10 2.10  

Allowance for pension in payment increases of CPI or 2.5% p.a. if less 1.80 1.70 1.70  

Allowance for pension in payment increases of CPI or 3.0% p.a. if less 2.00 1.90 1.90  

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement 90% of post A day 90% of post A day 90% of post A day
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  The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 December 2016 imply the following life 
expectancies:

Life expectancy at age 65

Years

Male retiring in 2016 23.1

Female retiring in 2016 24.8

Male retiring in 2036 24.8

Female retiring in 2036 26.3

  The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the employer to the scheme for the year 
commencing 1 January 2017 is £839,000.

  Independent Age also operates a defined contribution scheme administered by TPT 
Retirement Solutions. Members of the scheme contribute up to 6%, while the Employer 
contributes up to 10%.

18 Movement on funds – Group and Charity 

Balance at  
1 January 

2016
Incoming 
resources

Resources 
expended Transfers

Gains / 
(Losses)

Balance at  
31 December 

2016

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

INDEPENDENT AGE

Endowed funds

FE Cobbold Trust Fund 1,365 - - 22 - 1,387

Backsettown Endowed Charity 267 - - 4 - 271

Wharton & Wittrick 401 - - 6 - 407

General Endowment Fund 52,668 - - 840 - 53,508

Unapplied Total Return 2,459 1,602 188 (872) 5,817 8,818

Total endowed funds 57,160 1,602 188 - 5,817 64,391

Restricted funds

FE Cobbold Trust Fund 12,379 351 784 - 1,275 13,221

Backsettown Endowed Charity 129 - - - - 129

RUKBA Holiday Fund 3,617 103 26 - 372 4,066

Ulster Ladies Trust Fund 716 20 16 - 74 794

General Endowment Fund 1,679 48 5 - 173 1,895

Campaign to End Loneliness 111 211 240 8 - 90

Other restricted funds 8 141 141 (8) - -

Total restricted funds 18,639 874 1,212 - 1,894 20,195

Unrestricted funds

Designated funds

Strategic Investment Fund 24,458 692 81 (5,512) 2,518 22,075

Property strategy fund 70 2 1 (2) 7 76

Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets Fund 2,821 - - (22) - 2,799

Designated Endowment Fund 36,444 1,037 121 (2,663) 3,753 38,450

Pension reserve (1,850) - 56 748 (1,009) (2,167)

Total designated funds 61,943 1,731 259 (7,451) 5,269 61,233

General fund 23,144 2,651 9,163 7,451 2,133 26,216

Total unrestricted funds 85,087 4,382 9,422 - 7,402 87,449

Sub total Independent Age 160,886 6,858 10,822 - 15,113 172,035

COUNSEL AND CARE FOR THE ELDERLY

General fund 393 323 438 - - 278

Sub total Counsel and Care for the 
Elderly 393 323 438 - - 278

Total Group 161,279 7,181 11,260 - 15,113 172,313

Fund descriptions
The Supplementary Royal Charter 2014 stipulated the establishment of a General 
Endowment Fund comprising all of the monies previously held in the Permanent 
Annuities fund, the Provision of Homes Capital fund, the Annuitants’ Relief fund and part 
of the Life Annuities fund.

The Charity Commission scheme, which became effective on 23 October 2014, defined the 
nature and purposes of the three endowed funds of which Independent Age is the Managing 
Trustee, namely: F E Cobbold Trust Fund, Backsettown Endowed Charity fund, and the 
Wharton and Wittrick fund. The Scheme further provided for the merger of Homes of Rest 
for Gentlewomen and the Georgina Tompkins Ladies Fund into the RUKBA Holiday Fund; 
confirmation that both the capital and income of the Ulster Ladies Fund could be expensed 
in accordance with its restrictions; and amended the restrictions on other named funds.

The Board of Trustees resolved in December 2014 that the charity would adopt Total 
Return Accounting for the three above named Endowed funds with effect from 1 January 
2015 and acknowledged that this should also apply to the General Endowment Fund as 
permitted under the Supplementary Royal Charter.

The funds of Independent Age are as described below.

Endowed Funds
The F E Cobbold Trust Fund represent monies to be held on trust to invest and apply to 
relief to older people in need by reason of ill-health, disability, financial hardship or other 
disadvantage, with preference to persons who are residents of Suffolk, by the provision of 
grants and other financial assistance and the provision of advice and support. 

The Backsettown Endowed Charity fund is to relieve persons who are in conditions of 
need, hardship or distress or who, by reason of physical or mental illness or otherwise are 
in need of rest and recuperation by making of grants or the provision of facilities that are 
calculated to relieve such need.

The Wharton & Wittrick Fund is to be held on trust to invest and apply the income to 
relief to older people in need by reason of ill-health, disability, financial hardship or other 
disadvantage, with preference to persons who have been employed with the health and social 
care professions, by the provision of grants and other assistance relating to accommodation.

The General Endowment Fund which was established by the Supplementary Royal 
Charter in 2014, provides for the income and any capital growth, greater than the 
movement in the Consumer Price Index in any one financial year, to be used for the 
general purposes of the Charity. Any excess over the CPI movement is held within the 
Unapplied Total Return from where it will be transferred to income should the Trustees 
elect to spend all or part of it.

The Unapplied Total Return is the balance of income earned, less investment 
management fees, plus investment gains after the maintenance of the capital value of the 
Endowed funds calculated by the movement in CPI for the respective period. Under Total 
Return Accounting, the Trustees had the option to transfer some or all of the unapplied 
total return to income in 2016 but chose not to do so.

The charity has exercised its rights by the Trustees under section 104(A) of the Charities 
Act 2011 on 1 January 2015. This power permits the Trustees to invest permanently 
endowed funds to maximise total return and therefore to apply an appropriate portion of 
the unapplied total return to income. The unapplied total return remains invested as part 
of the permanent endowment until that power is exercised. When exercised, it allows the 
Trustees to apply an appropriate portion of the unapplied total return to income each year. 
During the current year, the Trustees have transferred £Nil to unrestricted income funds.
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Movement in unapplied total return
Endowed for 

Investment
Unapplied  

Total Return
Total  

Endowed

£000 £000 £000

At start date: 1 January 2016

Gift component of permanent endowment 54,701 - 54,701

Unapplied total return - 2,459 2,459

54,701 2,459 57,160

Movements

Recoupment of trust for investment † 872 (872) -

Dividend return - 1,602 1,602

Gains - 5,817 5,817

Investment management costs - (188) (188)

872 6,359 7,231

Unapplied total return allocated to income - - -

TOTALS 55,573 8,818 64,391

† This represents the sum required to maintain the real capital value of the endowed funds 
by offsetting the impact of inflation.

Restricted Funds
There are income funds associated with each of the Endowed Funds. The monies held in 
each of these may only be disbursed in accordance with the restrictions described above.

The RUKBA Holiday Fund: the income and capital may be applied for the relief in need of 
persons in reduced circumstance with a preference for those from the South of England, 
by provision of holidays or in such ways as the Trustees shall think fit.

The Ulster Ladies Trust Fund: the income and capital may be applied for the relief of 
persons in need by reason of ill-health, disability, financial hardship or other disadvantage 
with a preference for those living or formerly living in Northern Ireland.

The Campaign to End Loneliness, which works to address the issues related to up to 16% 
of older people experiencing loneliness, grants received including those from the other 
partners.

Other Restricted Funds are donations from trusts on which a restriction is placed by the 
donor.

Designated Funds
Paragraph 4.13 of the Royal Charter 2014 requires the Charity to “set aside funds for special 
purposes and as reserves against future expenditure”. These funds are represented by a 
number of designated funds whose individual purposes are described below.

The Strategic Investment Fund will finance the majority of the growth of our services in 
line with our 2020 strategy, as well as investment in fundraising to grow and diversify our 
income base.  

The Property strategy fund has been set aside in order to fund the costs of disposal of the 
remaining investment properties.

The Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets Fund recognises the sums tied up in 
operational fixed assets – primarily the Head Office building at 18 Avonmore Road.

The Designated Endowment Fund has been set aside to generate income for the long-
term future of the charity, to protect our spending plans in line with our Royal Charter. 
This includes a sum to cover potential losses on our Endowed Funds should investments 
fall in any period. The value of this fund has been increased in the year in line with the 
charity’s investment goal of CPI + 3.9%, ie 5.5%.

The Pension Reserve Fund recognises the liability of the Group to the Trustees of its 
defined benefit pension scheme.

General Fund
The General Fund is unrestricted funds not held or designated for other purposes and 
used for the general work of Independent Age. 

The General Fund of Counsel and Care for the Elderly is similarly unrestricted. See also 
Note 20 below.

19 Analysis of net assets between funds 

Group and charity
Unrestricted 

funds
Designated 

funds
Restricted 

funds
Endowed 

funds
Total  

funds

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

INDEPENDENT AGE

Tangible and intangible fixed assets - 2,799 - - 2,799

Investments 33,396 60,601 17,698 63,713 175,408

Investment properties - - 2,377 678 3,055

Concessionary loans - - 120 - 120

Current assets 2,493 - - - 2,493

Current liabilities (1,757) - - - (1,757)

Creditors: Amount falling due after more than one year (7,916) - - - (7,916)

Defined benefit pension scheme liability - (2,167) - - (2,167)

Sub total Independent Age 26,216 61,233 20,195 64,391 172,305

COUNSEL AND CARE FOR THE ELDERLY

Current assets 278 - - - 278

Sub total Counsel and Care for the Elderly 278 - - - 278

Total Group 26,494 61,233 20,195 64,391 172,313

20 Trustees, related parties and connected charities 

No Trustee was paid nor waived any remuneration during the year. £432 (2015: £101) was 
reimbursed to two (2015: one) Trustees in 2016 for travel to and from meetings.

Professor Martin Green OBE, Chair of the International Longevity Centre – UK (ILC-UK), 
is a Trustee of Independent Age. Payments totalling £15,450 in 2016 (2015: £46,512) have 
been made to ILC-UK for research services and events.

Counsel and Care for the Elderly merged with Independent Age in October 2011 but 
continues to operate as a separate charitable company for the collection of donations and 
legacies. Independent Age is the Managing Trustee and continues to provide the services 
previously offered by Counsel and Care. The income, expenditure and net assets of 
Counsel and Care for 2016 can be seen in Note 18.

The Florence Nightingale Aid in Sickness Trust (FNAIST) was formerly administered by 
Independent Age, which provided accommodation and other support services. In August 
2014, the charity relocated to new premises and was established as a Company limited by 
guarantee (09064489) and re-registered with the Charity Commission for England and 
Wales (1157980). Since that date, a member of Independent Age staff has been seconded to 
FNAIST which reimburses the charity for costs incurred and pays a small administration 
fee of £600 p.a. As at 31 December 2016 FNAIST owed Independent Age £4,010 (2015: £0).
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21 Reconciliation of net movements in funds to net cash flow from activities

Group and charity 2016 2015 

£000 £000

Net income for the year 12,043 9,881

Dividends received (4,201) (2,580)

Interest receivable (83) (97)

Rents received from investment properties (549) (1,299)

Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets 166 173

Amortisation and impairment of intangible fixed assets 154 38

Movement in concessionary loans 29 25

Gains on investments (16,372) (3,491)

Surplus on disposal of fixed assets (14) (6,821)

Loss/(gain) on fixed asset investment properties and properties held for sale 250 25

Increase in provision against programme related investments 60 184

Post-employment benefits less payments (692) (542)

Movement in the provision for regular payments 1,004 (764)

Decrease in debtors 258 111

Decrease in creditors (1,497) (1,659)

Net cash flow from operating activities (9,444) (6,816)

22 2015 Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities

    Year to  
31 December 

2015

Unrestricted 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Endowed 
funds

Total  
funds

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income and endowments from:

Donations and legacies 2,845 514 - 3,359

Raising funds – events 32 - - 32

Investment income 2,053 511 1,540 4,104

Other income 

Other income 27 - - 27

Surplus from property sales 6,821 - - 6,821

Total income and endowments 11,778 1,025 1,540 14,343

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 

Raising voluntary income 1,036 - - 1,036

Investment and property management 277 59 176 512

Total cost of raising funds 1,313 59 176 1,548

Charitable activities

Information and Advice 1,865 834 - 2,699

Wellbeing 2,427 - - 2,427

Campaigning 1,278 309 - 1,587

Regular Payments and Grants (233) (206) - (439)

Total cost of charitable activities 5,337 937 - 6,274

Other expenditure

Pension – Other finance expenditure 106 - - 106

Total expenditure 6,756 996 176 7,928

Operating surplus 5,022 29 1,364 6,415

Gains on investment assets 1,747 434 1,310 3,491

Unrealised gain/(loss) on investment properties (25) - - (25)

Net income 6,744 463 2,674 9,881

Other recognised gains

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension scheme 1,049 - - 1,049

Net movement in funds 7,793 463 2,674 10,930

Fund balances brought forward at 1 January 77,687 18,176 54,486 150,349

Fund balances carried forward at 31 December 85,480 18,639 57,160 161,279
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Charter Members 

1963 His Grace the Duke of Abercorn KG

1992 Her Grace the Duchess of Abercorn

1986 Mr L V Adamson

2005 Lady Aird CVO

2009 Mr C Anson CVO

2012 Professor S Balloch

2003 Mr U D Barnett

2009 Mr M Barton

2010 Ms R Bayley

2009 Mr K Bernbaum

2010 Ms L Berry OBE

2010 Ms E C Best

1995 Miss M C L Boggis

2009 Dame Diana Brittan DBE

2011 Mr N Broadhead (to February 2016) 

2006 Mr R D H Bryce

2009 Mr S Burke

2010 Ms P Butler (to June 2016) 

2009 Mr P Cann

2005 Mrs J M Casimir

2008 Ms S Collins

2002 Mrs S M Cookson 

2016 Mr M Craston (from June 2016)

1989 Mr J A Cummings (to June 2016) 

2012 Ms M Dangoor

2012 Lady Denman

2012 Mr T Dennis

2016 Mrs V Dews (from June 2016)

2014 His Honour Judge M Dight 

2010 Ms C Dize 

2007 Ms S Douthwaite 

2003 Mr N G E Driver 

1996 Commander J R Ducker RN (Rtd)

2010 Mr S Dunmore

1998 Mrs M J Eason

2010 Prof M Else

1965 Mrs E R Evans

2003 Mr P W Fane

2012 Mrs F Findlay

2010 Ms J Fitzsimmins

2011 Dr J Frain

1991 Mrs D M Friend (to May 2016) 

2003 Mr N R L Fry 

2010 Mr R Furze

1996 Mrs M R Garstin

2009 Dr N Graham 

2009 Prof M Green OBE

2005 Mr R H Gritten

2009 Mr R Gutch

2016 Mr J Hannaford

2004 Mr M A Hayes

1996 Miss D A K Hayman

2012 Miss P Hibbs

2012 Miss D Hodson

1999 Mr A M Hogg

2006 Mr T J Howe 

1990 Dr T G Hudson 

2005 Mrs F C Hughes

2008 Mr R Humphries

1981 Mr T W A Jackson-Stops 

1980 Mrs J L I James

2009 Professor M Knapp

1995 Mrs A P F Kynge

2012 Stella Kyriazis, Countess Caridi

1974 Mrs B Laidlaw 

1991 Lady Laing

2009 Mrs C Loyd

1977 Dr A D MacAdam

1986 Mrs I Macdonald

2010 Professor J Manthorpe

1986 Mrs M E G Martineau

2013 Ms E McCartney

1995 Dr J S Meyrick

1983 Mrs A F Moore-Gwyn

2001 Mr R A Morris DL

1979 Mrs V E Morrison

1986 Mrs S Neilson

2010 The Rt. Hon. the Baroness Neuberger

2002 Mrs P A O’Brien

2010 Mr G Oppenheim

1996 Mr P W Parker TD

1991 Mrs J I Parkinson (to May 2016)

2012 Mr G Patterson

2009 Mr J Pedder

1971 Mrs C H D Pemberton

1981 The Hon Mrs S B Phillimore  
(to December 2016)

1985 Mr P G Pollock 

1994 Mr M E Portch 

1996 Mrs G Powell

2004 Mr H M Priestley

2001 Mr A Provis

2008 Mrs H R Raikes

1989 Mr W Rathbone OBE 

2008 Ms S H Reed

1983 Mr E M Reeves (to September 2016)

2016 Mr P Richardson (from June 2016)

2010 Ms A Roberts

2013 Ms L Romeo

1994 Miss P Routledge CBE

2009 Professor J Schneider  
(to November 2016)

2014 Dame Helena Shovelton DBE

2009 Mr R Smith

1989 Mrs D M Spence

1998 Mrs A K Steel (to May 2016)

2013 Mr J Steel

1994 Mr P Stirrup 

2001 Mr R N Strathon

1985 Mr J G Tregoning

1999 Mr W G Underwood

2011 Mr I Watson

1989 Mr J R Whately

2009 Ms K Whitehorn

2010 Mrs D Wilkinson OBE

1992 Professor H S Wolff

2001 Mrs M Worlidge

2011 The Rt Hon the Earl of Yarborough

Charter Members are appointed when an application, which may have been invited 
by the Trustees, has been approved by the Trustees. Trustees are appointed Charter 
Members for the period of their trusteeship only.

At each Annual General Meeting, the Charter Members shall resolve on the appointment 
or reappointment of Trustees who have been nominated by the Trustees, and the 
appointment of the Auditors.
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We want the UK to be the best place 
to grow older and we have ambitious 
targets to increase the number 
of older people we help and the 
difference we make.

We receive no state funding and 
rely on income from individuals, 
trusts and other sources to continue 
providing our services to hundreds 
of thousands of older people in need.

Visit www.independentage.org to make a 
secure online donation and find out more 
about our fundraising opportunities, or call 
us on 020 7605 4223.

Help us 
reach more 
older people 
in need



Independent Age is the operating 
name of the Royal United Kingdom 
Beneficent Association

Registered charity number  
210729 (England and Wales)
SC047184 (Scotland)

Follow us @IndependentAgeLike our page

Independent Age
18 Avonmore Road
London 
W14 8RR

T 020 7605 4200 
E charity@independentage.org
www.independentage.org
Helpline 0800 319 6789


